ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignment ofError One 

The Magistrate Court erred in allowing the jury to be instructed on the offense of 

domestic assault when the defendant was charged solely with domestic battery. 

Assignment ofError Two 

The Circuit Court erred in determining that allowing the jury to be instructed on the 

offense of domestic assault was harmless error. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The petitioner, Zachary Elijah Bland, was arrested on February 20,2015 on two (2) 

counts of the misdemeanor charge of domestic battery, one count involving alleged victim Karen 

Bland, and the other involving alleged victim Tony Wanstreet. A criminal complaint was filed 

against the petitioner on February 18,2015, for offenses allegedly occurring on February 17, 

2015. Appendix 1-2. 

It is undisputed that on the evening of February 17,2015, Mr. Bland and his wife, Karen 

Bland, visited a neighbor's house, that they had an argument while at the house, and that they 

returned later that night. Appendix 59: 4-15; 60: 7. It is also undisputed that sometime after 

arriving back home, Karen Bland went into the couple's bedroom and that Mr. Bland came into 

the bedroom to retrieve a pillow. Appendix 60: 7-16. From there, an argument ensued. 

Appendix: 51: 17-24; 52: 6-7. 

Karen Bland maintained that the fight became physical with Mr. Bland grabbing her 

shirt, lifting her above his head, throwing her on the couch, and punching her in the face. 

Appendix 52: 6-10. Tony Wanstreet, the petitioner's stepson, testified that he attempted to 

protect his mother from his stepfather and found himself in between Mr. and Mrs. Bland, that 
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Mr. Bland pushed him, and that Mr. Bland hit him in the mouth from behind. Appendix 77: 4-8; 

79:4-6, 15-16. 

Zachary Bland did not dispute that he made physical contact with both Karen Bland and 

Tony Wanstreet; rather, he argued that he was attacked fIrst and had to use force to protect 

himself. Appendix 168: 5, 11-18,20-4; 174: 5-9. It is also undisputed that during this 

altercation, Mr. Wanstreet chipped a tooth. Appendix 79:6. 

After the close ofevidence at trial, the defendant, Mr. Bland, objected to the State's 

proposed jury instruction of domestic assault as the defendant was not charged with domestic 

assault and there was no evidence presented by the State of domestic assault. Appendix 195: 4

24; 196: 1-2. The State then argued errantly that domestic assault is a lesser included offense of 

domestic battery. Appendix 196: 3-12. The Court submitted the instruction to the jury on 

domestic assault over the defendant's objections. Appendix 196: 13-14. 

The jury found Zachary Bland not guilty of domestic battery against Karen Bland, not 

guilty of domestic assault against Karen Bland, and not guilty of domestic battery against Tony 

Wanstreet; but returned a verdict of guilty to the domestic assault charge with regard to Tony 

Wanstreet. Appendix 233: 4-17. 

Mr. Bland then filed a timely notice ofappeal ofhis magistrate court conviction and his 

Appeal on the Record From Conviction in the Magistrate Court ofHarrison County, West 

Virginia. Appendix 240-253. A hearing on the petitioner's appeal was held on April 28, 2016. 

Appendix 274. Following said hearing, the Harrison County Circuit Court, Judge James A. 

Matish presiding, an Order Affmning Conviction was entered on May 18, 2016. Appendix 296

307. 

The Circuit Court affmned the conviction ofthe Magistrate Court, holding that any error . 
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in presenting the domestic assault instruction to the jury was harmless because "[b]ased on the 

evidence presented it would have been proper to bring the domestic assault charge separately 

under a reasonsable apprehension theory or an attempted battery theory, and there was sufficient 

evidence presented to convict the Defendant under either theory." Appendix 303. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

It constituted error for the Magistrate Court to instruct the jury on domestic assault as it is 

not a lesser included offense of domestic battery. A crime is considered a lesser included 

offense ifone cannot commit the greater crime without having fIrst committed the lesser crime. 

State v. Neider, 295 S.E.2d 902 at 904 CW. Va. 1982). Put another way, all elements of the 

lesser offense must be included as elements ofthe greater offense. 

A domestic battery occurs when an individual "intentionally makes physical contact 

force capable of causing physical pain or injury to his or her family or household member or 

unlawfully and intentionally causes physical harm to his or her family or household member" W. 

Va. Code §61-2-28 (a). There are two ways ofcommitting a domestic assault. One is by way of 

placing a family or household member in reasonable apprehension of suffering immediate harm, 

and the other way is to attempt to commit a domestic battery. W. Va. Code §61-2-28 (b). The 

fIrst type of domestic assault is not a lesser included offense ofdomestic battery because the 

offense ofbattery does not require the element ofapprehension which is required for that theory 

ofdomestic assault. The second type of domestic assault is not a lesser included ofdomestic 

battery because it involves an attempt (and failure to) commit a domestic battery. 
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Even if domestic assault could be considered a "lesser included offense" of domestic 

battery, there was insufficient evidence presented at trial for the instruction to be presented to the 

Jury. 

The Circuit Court held that any error in instructing the jury on domestic assault was 

harmless, as the jury instructions for both domestic assault and domestic battery were proper. 

Appendix 305. The Circuit Court reasoned that the defendant could have been charged with both 

domestic assault and domestic battery. Id. It is true that the defendant could have been charged 

with both domestic assault and battery. However, he was not. The State failed to charge the 

defendant with domestic assault in its original complaint. Appendix 1-2. Rule 8(a) of the West 

Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure requires that a prosecutor charge· a criminal defendant with 

"all offenses based on the same act or transaction ...." in the same charging document. 

Because the State did not charge the defendant with domestic assault, it could not have added the 

charge after the jury was sworn, and certainly not after the entire trial had been completed. At 

that point, double jeopardy would have attached and the defendant could no longer be prosecuted 

for a domestic assault. State ex reI. Blaney v. Reed, 215 W. Va. 220,225,599 S.E.2d 643,648 

(2004). 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Pursuant to West Virginia Rule 19(a) (1) - (4) of the Revised Rules of Appellate 

Procedure, the Plaintiff-Appellant believes that oral argument is necessary in this matter. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. 	 Standard of Review 

The case at hand involves a magistrate court giving an instruction to the jury over the 

defendant's objection and whether the jury was properly instructed on domestic assault. "As a 

general rule, the refusal to give a requested jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of 

discretion. By contrast, the question ofwhether a jury was properly instructed is a question of 

law, and the review is de novo." Syllabus Point 1, State v. Hinkle, 200 W.Va. 280 (1996). 

However, "[j]ury instructions are reviewed by determining whether the charge, reviewed 

as a whole, sufficiently instructed the jury so they understood the issues involved and were not 

mislead by the law." State v. Jetf, 220 W. Va. 289 at 290 (2007). The issue at hand is whether, 

when looking at the jury instructions as a whole, the jury was properly instructed on the law. 

Although there is a discussion below on whether there was sufficient evidence presented at trial 

to justify the instruction on domestic assault, the real issue at hand is a question of law - whether 

the jury should have been able to consider domestic assault as a charge the defendant could be 

convicted of at all. Therefore, the review should be de novo. 

II. 	 Assignment of Error One - The Magistrate Court erred in allowing the jury 
to be instructed on the offense of domestic assault when the defendant was 
charged solely with domestic battery. 

A two-part inquiry is used to determine whether a defendant is entitled to a jury 

instruction of a lesser charge. State v. Neider, 170 W.Va. 662 at 664 (1982). Presumably, the 

same two-part inquiry would apply to whether the state is entitled to a jury instruction over the 

defendant's objection. "The fIrst inquiry is a legal one having to do with whether the lesser 

offense is by virtue of its legal elements or defInition included in the greater offense." Id. "The 

second inquiry is a factual one which involves a determination by the trial court if there is 
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evidence which would tend to prove such lesser included offense." Id. at 665. Each inquiry is 

discussed in turn below. 

A. Domestic assault is not a true "lesser included offense" of domestic 
battery, specifically with regard to the case at hand. 

In order for an offense to be considered a lesser included offense, it must be such that 

each element of the lesser offense is a required element ofthe greater offense. According to the 

Court in Nieder,"[t]he test ofdetermining whether a particular offense is a lesser included 

offense is that the lesser offense must be such that it is impossible to commit the greater offense 

without fIrst having committed the lesser offense. An offense is not a lesser included offense if it 

requires the inclusion of an element not required in the greater offense." 170 W.Va. at 664. See 

also State v. Daggett, 167 W.Va. 411 (1981); State v. Bailey, 159 W.Va. 167 (1975). 

There are two ways domestic assault can be committed. As such, it is necessary to 

analyze both types of domestic assault in order to determine if either type could be considered a 

lesser included offense of domestic battery. 

A defendant commits domestic battery ifhe "intentionally makes physical contact force 

capable ofcausing physical pain or injury to his or her family or household member or 

unlawfully and intentionally causes physical harm to his or her family or household member" W. 

Va. Code §61-2-28 (a). By contrast, a defendant may commit domestic assault if he "attempts 

to use force capable of causing physical pain or injury against his or her fan1ily or household 

member" (referred to hereinbelow as "attempted battery assault") or if he"unlawfully commits 

an act that places his or her family or household member in reasonable apprehension of 

immediately suffering physical pain or injury" (referred to hereinbelow as "apprehension 

assault"). W. Va Code §61-2-28 (b). 
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An analysis ofboth types of domestic assault reveals that neither is a lesser included 

offense ofdomestic battery. 

1. Attempted battery-type assault 

The first form of assault is essentially an attempted battery. One might be tempted to 

argue that in order to commit a battery (make physical contact force capable of causing physical 

pain or injury), one must attempt to do so. However, such a statement errantly synonymizes 

"attempt" with "intent" and is not consistent with the legal definition of "attempt." An attempt is 

an incomplete act. Once a person makes contact with his or her intended target, the crime is no 

longer an attempted battery, but a completed battery. According to the West Virginia Supreme 

Court pfAppeals, "[i]n order to constitute the crime of attempt, two requirements must be met: 

(1) a specific intent to commit the underlying substantive crime; and (2) an overt act toward the 

commission of that crime, which falls short ofcompleting the underlying crime." State v. Mayo, 

191 W. Va. 79 at 86 (1994) (Emphasis added.) 

Therefore, because this theory of domestic assault includes as an element "an overt act 

toward the commission of a crime, which falls short of completing the underlying crime," an 

element which is not required for domestic battery, it is not a lesser included offense. 

2. Apprehension-type assault 

This form ofassault requires that a defendant place the victim in reasonable apprehension 

of immediately suffering physical pain or injury. Again, "[a]n offense is not a lesser included 

offense if it requires the inclusion of an element not required in the greater offense." Nieder, 295 

S.E.2d at 904. Battery does not require apprehension; therefore a person can commit battery 

without committing assault. For example, if a person strikes another person from behind or 

while the other person is sleeping, a battery has been committed but not apprehension of 
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immediate harm. Because a battery can be committed by a person without that person having 

first committed assault, assault is not a lesser included offense of battery. 

B. Assuming, arguendo, that domestic assault is considered a "lesser included 
offense" of domestic battery, there was insufficient evidence presented at 
trial for the instruction to be presented to the jury 

It is the defendant's position that dqmestic assault is not a lesser included offense of 

domestic battery; however, this Court need not agree with this position in order to determine that 

the jury instruction on domestic assault was improper. Whether domestic assault is a lesser 

included offense ofdomestic battery is only the fust inquiry a court must make in order to 

determine if a jury instruction is warranted. The Court must then decide if there is any evidence 

that would tend to prove the lesser included offense. 

In the State's closing argument, the prosecuting attorney did not discuss which theory of 

domestic assault the State intended to pursue, therefore it is unclear as there was not sufficient 

evidence of either type presented at trial. Appendix 212-216. 

All of the testimony presented by the State at trial indicated that the defendant, Zachary 

Bland, actually made physical contact with the alleged victim, Tony Wanstreet. That physical 

contact was made was and is not in dispute. The defendant himself testified that he made 

physical contact with Mr. Wanstreet, although he testified that the contact was made in self 

defense. Appendix 168: 5, 11-18,20-4; 174: 5-9. There was no evidence presented that the 

defendant attempted to commit battery but fell short ofactually committing domestic battery. 

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, in an unpublished opinion, considered whether an 

instruction on assault was appropriate in a case where the defendant was charged with battery in 

a case that was similar to the one at hand, except that it involved battery on a police officer 

instead of a family or household member: 
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In the present case, although the testimony IS somewhat 

contradictory as to petitioner's intent in striking or making contact 

with the police officer, the evidence is clear that the officer was in 

fact struck by petitioner. Thus, the circuit court did not abuse its 

discretion in refusing to give an instruction on assault on a police 

officer as a lesser included offense. 

State v. Dixon, No. 104019,2011 WL 8199957, at *2 CW. Va. Nov. 15,2011). 

Here, just as in Dixon, the evidence is clear that Mr. Wanstreet was actually struck by the 

defendant. Therefore, it was erroneous for the Magistrate Court to allow the instruction of 

domestic assault to be presented to the jury. 

Furthennore, Tony Wanstreet's own testimony did not reveal that he ever felt any fear 

during the altercation or that he was placed in reasonable apprehension of immediate harm. 

Appendix 71-102. There was simply no evidence or testimony that Mr. Wanstreet was in 

reasonable apprehension of immediate harm. 

III. 	 Assignment of Error Two: The Circuit Court erred in determining that 
allowing the jury to be instructed on the offense of domestic assault was 
harmless error. 

The Circuit Court held that any error in instructing the jury on domestic assault was 

harmless, as the jury instructions for both domestic assault and domestic battery were proper. 

Appendix 303. It is undisputed that the instructions for domestic assault and domestic battery 

which were given to the jury were both correct statements ofthe law. However, the defendant 

was convicted ofthe very offense he objected to the jury being instructed upon. Allowing the 

jury to be instructed on the offense ofdomestic assault essentially allowed the state to charge the 

12 




defendant with a second crime, arising out of the same occurrence, after evidence at trial was 

presented. 

The Circuit Court reasoned that defendant could have been charged with both domestic 

assault and domestic battery. Appendix 303. It is true that the defendant could have been 

charged with both domestic assault and battery. However, he was not. The original complaint 

charged Zachary Elijah Bland with two (2) counts of domestic battery and does not.even make 

factual allegations consistent with domestic assault. The Complaint reads as follows: 

On Tuesday, February)7,2015 this officer received information 
from WVSP Shinnston Communications of a reported domestic 
disturbance having occurred at a residence along Grass Run Rd., 
near the Marshville community, within Harrison County, WV This 
officer responded to the area, along with EMS service personnel, 
and made contact with Karen Bland (victim #1) and Tony 
Wanstreet (victim #2). The victims were found at a neighbors (sic) 
residence located adjacent to Mrs. Bland's residence (place of 
crime). Upon interviewing the victims separately, this officer 
learned Zachary Bland (defendant), struck both victims causing 
physical harm or injury. This officer was informed the defendant 
is married to Karen and a step-father to Tony. This officer 
observed injuries to the left arm and left side of Karen's face 
consistent with being struck. Also noted was a chipped lower 
tooth of Tony's which was sustained by being struck in the face by 
the defendant. The victims refused transport to a medical facility, 
opting to go, if necessary, by personal vehicle. The victims, along 
with a juvenile witness, were transported to a residence, for safety 
reasons, by this officer. 

Appendix 2. 

According to Rule 8(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, the 

prosecuting attorney must "charge in the same charging document all offenses based on the same 

act or transaction, or on two or mor~ acts or transactions, connected together or constituting parts 

ofa common scheme or plan, whether felonies, misdemeanors or both, provided that the 

offenses occurred in the same jurisdiction, and the prosecuting attorney knew or should have 
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known ofall the offenses, or had an opportunity to present all offenses prior to the time that 

jeopardy attaches in anyone of the offenses." Syllabus Point 3, State ex rei. Forbes v. Canady, 

197 W.Va. 37 (1996). A failure to do so will result in a bar to any subsequent prosecution if 

jeopardy has attached to an offense in the initial prosecution. State ex reI. Blaney v. Reed, 215 

W. Va. 220 at 225 (2004). 

According to the West Virginia Constitution, "No person shall ... be twice put in jeopardy 

. . "This clause historically has 
oflife or hberty for the same offence." W.Va. Const. art. 3, § 5. 

served the function ofpreventing both successive punishments and successive prosecutions and 

bars an accused from being twice punished for the same offense and from being twice tried for 

it." State v. Sears, 196 W. Va. 71 at 75 (1996); See also Justices ofBoston Municipal Court v. 

Lydon, 466 U.s. 294 at 306-307 (1984); State v. Rummer, 189 W. Va. 369; State v. Hersman, 

161 W.Va. 371 (1978); Conner v. Griffith, 160 W.Va. 680 (1977). The Double Jeopardy Clause 

"prohibits merely punishing twice, or attempting a second time to punish criminally, for the 

same offense." Id. See also Helvering v. Mitchell, 303 U.S. 391 at 399 (1938). 

Jeopardy attaches when a criminal defendant "has been placed on trial on a valid 

indictment, before a court ofcourt ofcompetent jurisdiction, has been arraigned, has pleaded and 

a jury has been impaneled and sworn Brooks v. Boles, 151 W.Va. 576 at 153 (1967); Syllabus 

point 1, Adkins v. Leverette, 164 W.Va. 377 (1980). 

The jury instruction was submitted to the jury after the defendant was charged \Yith a 

crime, was arraigned, had pleaded, and after the jury was sworn. Therefore, jeopardy had 

attached. The defendant could no longer have been charged with the crime of domestic assault 

without violating the Double Jeopardy Clause. Therefore, the Circuit Court erred in determining 

that the error in instructing the jury on domestic assault was harmless, as it resulted in the 
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defendant being convicted of an additional crime which he had never been charged with. 

IV. Conclusion 

For the reasons as stated above, the Circuit Court of Harrison County erred in affirming 

the Petitioner's conviction in Magistrate Court. The Petitioner met his burden to show that the 

Magistrate Court erred when it submitted an instruction to the jury on domestic ~sault as it is 

not a lesser included offense ofdomestic battery. Said error was not harmless as the defendant 

was convicted of domestic assault, the very offense he objected to the jury being instructed on, 

and the Circuit Court was wrong when it reasoned that the defendant could have been charged 

separately for domestic assault as to do so would have violated the defendant's rights under the 

Double Jeopardy Clause at that point. 

WHEREFORE, the Petitioner, Zachary Elijah Bland, requests that this Honorable Court 

vacate the defendant's conviction of domestic assault in the Magistrate Court ofHarrison· 

County, or, in the alternative, remand this case with specific instructions to the lower court, and 

grant such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate.