IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


NO. 16-0592 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Plaintiff Below, Respondent, 

v. 


ZACHARY ELIJAH BLAND, 


Defendant Below, Petitioner. 

STATE'S SUMMARY RESPONSE 

I.

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

ARGUMENT 

THE MAGISTRATE COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY 
INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE OFFENSE OF DOMESTIC ASSAULT 
AS A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF DOMESTIC BATTERY. 

A. 	 Recap of Magistrate Court Proceedings and Posture of Current 
Appeal. 

Petitioner was originally charged with two counts of misdemeanor domestic battery. The 

first count charged Petitioner with committing domestic battery against his wife, Karen Bland. The 

second count charged Petitioner with committing domestic battery against his stepson, Tony 

Wanstreet. At trial, the magistrate court instructed the jury on domestic battery for both of these 

victims. Over the objection ofPetitioner, the magistrate court also instructed the jury on domestic 

assault for both victims, as lesser included offenses ofdomestic battery. Thereafter, the jury found 

Petitioner not guilty ofcommitting domestic battery or domestic assault against Karen Bland. The 

jury likewise found Petitioner not guilty ofcommitting domestic battery against Tony Wanstreet, but 

found him guilty of committing domestic assault against Mr. Wanstreet. 

Because Petitioner was acquitted ofall charges, including domestic assault, any question as 

to the validity of the magistrate court's domestic assault instruction, as such instruction relates to 
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Karen Bland, is moot. See State ex rei. Bluestone Coal Corp. v. Mazzone, 226 W. Va. 148, 155,697 

S.E.2d 740, 747 (2010) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted) ("Simply stated, a case is 

moot when the issues presented are no longer live or the parties lack a legally cognizable interest in 

the outcome."). See also Syl. Pt. 4, Cline v. Mirandy, 234 W. Va. 427, 765 S.E.2d 583 (2014) 

(internal quotation marks and citations omitted) ("Moot questions or abstract propositions, the 

decision of which would avail nothing in the determination of controverted rights of persons or of 

property, are not properly cognizable by a court."). Thus, the current appeal arises out ofthe validity 

ofthe magistrate court's instruction to the jury on the offense ofdomestic assault, as such instruction 

relates solely to Tony Wan street. 

B. Standard of Review. 

As itpertains to jury instructions, "[t]he basis ofthe objection [to the instruction] determines 

the appropriate standard of review." State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 671, 461 S.E.2d 163, 177 

(1995). "In this light, if an objection to a jury instruction is a challenge to a trial court's statement 

of the legal standard, this Court will exercise de novo review." Id. Along these same lines, "'the 

question ofwhether a jury was properly instructed is a question oflaw, and the review is de novo. '" 

Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State v. Shingleton, 222 W. Va. 647, 671 S.E.2d 478 (2008) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, 

in part, State v. Hinkle, 200 W. Va. 280, 489 S.E.2d 257 (1996)). However, "'[w]hether facts are 

sufficient to justify the delivery of a particular instruction is reviewed by this Court under an abuse 

ofdiscretion standard. In criminal cases where a conviction results, the evidence and any reasonable 

inferences are considered in the light most favorable to the prosecution. '" Syl. Pt. 3, State v. 

Bradford, 199 W. Va. 338, 484 S.E.2d 221 (1997) (quoting Syl. Pt. 12, State v. Derr, 192 W. Va. 

165,451 S.E.2d 731 (1994)). 
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C. 	 Law on Lesser Included Offenses. 

"The question of whether a [party] is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included 
offense involves a two-part inquiry. The first inquiry is a legal one having to do with 
whether the lesser offense is by virtue of its legal elements or definition included in 
the greater offense. The second inquiry is a factual one which involves a 
determination by the trial court of whether there is evidence which would tend to 
prove such lesser included offense." 

Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Wilkerson, 230 W. Va. 366, 738 S.E.2d 32 (2013) (citations omitted). 

As to the first inquiry, 

"[t]he test ofdetermining whether a particular offense is a lesser included offense is 
that the lesser offense must be such that it is impossible to commit the greater offense 
without first having committed the lesser offense. An offense is not a lesser included 
offense if it requires the inclusion ofan element not required in the greater offense." 

Syl. Pt. 4, Wilkerson, supra (emphasis added) (citations omitted). 

Furthermore, "because the legal definition ofa lesser included offense requires its elements 

to be embraced within the greater offense, the primary factual inquiry will center on those elements 

ofthe greater offense which are different from the elements of the lesser offense." State v. Neider, 

170 W. Va. 662, 665, 295 S.E.2d 902, 905 (1982). On this basis, '" [w ]here there is no evidentiary 

dispute or insufficiency on the elements ofthe greater offense which are different from the elements 

of the lesser included offense, then the [party] is not entitled to a lesser included offense 

instruction.'" Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Phillips, 199 W. Va. 507, 485 S.E.2d 676 (1997) (quoting Syl. Pt.· 

2, State v. Neider, 170 W. Va. 662,295 S.E.2d 902 (1982)). 

D. 	 Response to Petitioner's Assertions. 

1. 	 Domestic Assault Is A Lesser Included Offense of 
Domestic Battery. 

As set forth above, as related to Tony Wanstreet (Petitioner's stepson), the magistrate court 
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instructed the jury on domestic battery, as well as domestic assault as a lesser included offense of 

domestic battery. On appeal, Petitioner asserts that the magistrate court committed error in 

instructing the jury as such. In making this assertion, Petitioner argues that domestic assault is not 

a lesser included offense ofdomestic battery. As further argued by Petitioner, this is so because the 

offense ofdomestic assault contains elements that are not included in the offense ofdomestic battery. 

See generally Pet'r's Br. 1,6-7,8-11. The State disagrees. 

To begin with, this Court has already expressed its inclination to find that domestic assault 

is a lesser included offense ofdomestic battery. Specifically, in State v. Brewer, No. 12-1291,2013 

WL 4726562, at *1 (W. Va. Sept. 3,2013), the Court stated the following: 

In December of2011, petitioner and her boyfriend ... were visiting friends when an 
altercation between the two occurred, prompting petitioner to leave the friends' home 
in her vehicle. As she was leaving, petitioner intentionally drove her vehicle into [her 
boyfriend], breaking his ankle, and then left the scene of the accident. In February 
of 2012, petitioner was indicted on one count of malicious assault, one count of 
leaving the scene of a crash involving personal injury, and one count of domestic 
battery. Following a jury trial in August of 2012, petitioner was convicted of 
malicious assault, leaving the scene of a crash involving personal injury, and 
domestic assault, a lesser included offense ofdomestic battery. 

(Emphasis added). Although not directly holding such, this language, at the very least, shows the 

Court's leaning towards finding that domestic assault is indeed a lesser included offense ofdomestic 

battery. 

Additionally, an examination of the elements of the offenses of domestic battery and 

domestic assault also weigh in favor ofdomestic assault being a lesser included offense ofdomestic 

battery. Inpertinent part, the domestic battery statute ("DBS") and domestic assault statute ("DAS"), 

W. Va. Code §§ 61-2-28(a) and (b), provide as follows: 
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(a) Domestic battery. -- Any person who unlawfully and intentionally makes physical 
contact force capable ofcausing physical pain or injury to his ... family ... member 
or unlawfully and intentionally causes physical harm to his ... family ... member, 
is guilty of a misdemeanor[.] 

(b) Domestic assault. -- Any person who unlawfully attempts to use force capable of 
causing physical pain or injury against his ... family ... member or unlawfully 
commits an act that places his ... family ... member in reasonable apprehension of 
immediately suffering physical pain or injury, is guilty of a misdemeanor[.] 

Under the DBS, domestic battery can be committed in two ways. First, this offense is 

committed when a defendant "makes physical contact force capable of causing physical pain or 

injury to his ... family ... member." Second, the offense is committed when a defendant "causes 

physical harm to his ... family ... member." Under the DAS, domestic assault can likewise be 

committed in two ways. First, this offense is committed when a defendant "attempts to use force 

capable ofcausing physical pain or injury against his ... family ... member." Second, the offense 

is committed when a defendant "commits an act that places his ... family ... member in reasonable 

apprehension of immediately suffering physical pain or injury." 

Obviously, the elements in the DAS specifying that domestic assault occurs when a defendant 

"commits an act that places his ... family ... member in reasonable apprehension of immediately 

suffering physical pain or injury" are not contained in the DBS. Nor will the State try to convince 

this Court otherwise, as to do so would be disingenuous on the State's part. Having said this, 

however, the two methods of committing domestic assault under the DAS are separated by the 

disjunctive "or." Because the two methods ofcommitting domestic assault are independent of one 

another, the DAS is also violated when a defendant "attempts to use force capable of causing 

physical pain or injury against his ... family ... member," although this same defendant did not 

commit an act that placed "his ... family ... member in reasonable apprehension of immediately 
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suffering physical pain or injury." 

With this point made, domestic assault is a lesser included offense ofdomestic battery. That 

is, all of the elements contained in the first method of committing domestic assault under the DAS 

are also contained within the DBS. Correctly, so too was the finding of the circuit court: "[t]he 

domestic assault that is committed by attempting, but failing, to commit domestic battery requires 

no additional elements not included in the [domestic] battery definition[.]" App. 301. More 

specifically, the first method ofcommitting domestic battery under the DB S occurs when a defendant 

"makes physical contact force capable of causing physical pain or injury to his ... family ... 

member." Likewise, the first method ofcommitting domestic assault under the DAS occurs when 

a defendant "attempts to use force capable ofcausing physical pain or injury against his ... family 

... member." The only appreciable difference between these two provisions is that the DAS has the 

word "attempts," whereas the DBS does not. However, from a commonsense standpoint, one cannot 

commit a crime without first attempting to do so. Thus, one cannot make physical contact force 

capable of causing physical pain or injury to his family member (as set forth in the first method of 

the DBS) without first attempting to do the same (as set forth in the first method of the DAS). 

On appeal, Petitioner takes issue with this analysis, stating that such analysis erroneously 

"synonymizes 'attempt' with 'intent' and is not consistent with the legal definition of 'attempt. '" 

Pet'r's Br. 10. In arguing such, Petitioner relies on the case ofState v. Mayo, 191 W. Va. 79, 443 

S.E.2d 236 (1994). See Pet'r's Br. 10. At Syllabus Point 4 of Mayo, the Court found that "'[i]n 

order to constitute the crime of attempt, two requirements must be met: (1) a specific intent to 

commit the underlying substantive crime; and (2) an overt act toward the commission ofthat crime, 

which falls short ofcompleting the underlying crime. '" (Citations omitted). In particular, Petitioner 
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emphasizes the second part ofthis definition - i.e., "an overt act toward the commission ofa crime, 

which falls short of completing the underlying crime." Pet'r's Br. 10. Building on this, Petitioner 

concludes that domestic assault is not a lesser included offense of domestic battery, as the DBS 

statute does not contain this element. Id 

Admittedly, unlike the first method ofcommitting domestic assault under the DAS, the first 

method of committing domestic battery under the DBS statute does not have the word "attempts" 

contained within it. However, apart from this difference, the language of these two provisions are 

nearly identical. This, along with the fact that this Court has already expressed its inclination to find 

that domestic assault is a lesser included offense ofdomestic battery, see Brewer, supra, weighs in 

favor of domestic assault being a lesser included offense ofdomestic battery. 

2. 	 There was Sufficient Evidence Presented at Trial for the 
Domestic Assault Instruction, as a Lesser Included Offense of 
Domestic Battery, to be Given to the Jury. 

On appeal, Petitioner asserts that even ifone were to assume that domestic assault is a lesser 

included offense of domestic battery, the magistrate court still committed error in giving the jury a 

domestic assault instruction. In making this assertion, Petitioner argues that all of the evidence 

presented at trial indicated that he actually struck Tony Wanstreet. Thus, as further argued by 

himself, there was no evidence that Petitioner attempted to commit domestic battery, but fell short 

ofactually committing domestic battery, which (had there been such evidence) would have justified 

the domestic assault instruction. See generally Pet'r's Br. 1, 7, 11-12. The State disagrees. 

Again, the second inquiry (of the two-part inquiry) for determining whether an instruction 

on a lesser included offense is warranted is "a factual one which involves a determination by the trial 

court ofwhether there is evidence which would tend to prove such lesser included offense." Syl. Pt. 
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3, Wilkerson, supra. Furthermore, "[w]hether facts are sufficient to justify the delivery of a 

particular instruction is reviewed by this Court under an abuse of discretion standard." Syl. Pt. 3, 

Bradford, supra. Lastly, in the case of criminal prosecutions, "the evidence and any reasonable 

inferences are considered in the light most favorable to the prosecution." ld. 

With this backdrop in place, the State concedes that there was evidence produced at trial 

showing that Petitioner did indeed strike Tony Wanstreet. The first instance of Petitioner striking 

Tony occurred in the living room when Petitioner ptillched Tony thereby chipping his tooth. The 

second instance of Petitioner striking Tony occurred in the kitchen. There, Petitioner threw Tony 

against the kitchen sink. After doing so, Petitioner tried to throw Tony on the floor. Thus, the fact 

that Petitioner tried to throw Tony to the floor, but did not succeed in doing so, shows that there was 

sufficient evidence adduced at trial to justify the magistrate court's lesser included offense 

instruction of domestic assault. 

As a final note, the circuit court found that Petitioner could have been separately charged and 

convicted ofdomestic assault given the evidence presented at trial. Based on this, the circuit court 

found that any error on the part of the magistrate court in instructing the jury on the offense of 

domestic assault, as a lesser included offense of domestic battery, was harmless. For the reasons 

stated in his brief, see generally Pet'r's Br. 1, 7, 12-15, Petitioner asserts that the circuit court 

committed error in making these findings. Because it believes that domestic assault is a lesser 

included offense ofdomestic battery and the magistrate court did not commit error in so instructing 

the jury, the State need not address Petitioner's claims on this point. 
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III. 

CONCLUSION 

Petitioner's conviction should be affirmed.